IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT By_____

Chief Deputy Clerk

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

v.

Case No. 83,786

FLETCHER BERRY

Respondent

Discretionary Review of Decision of the District Court of Appeal, Second District of Florida

BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

ANNE Y. SWING Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0299294 Westwood Center, 7th Floor Criminal Division 2002 N. Lois Avenue Tampa, Florida 33607 (813) 873-4739

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The State is seeking review of the Second District opinion appended based on a certified question. The facts and proceedings were as follows:

Fletcher Berry, Respondent herein and Appellant below, was accused of possessing cocaine in February 18, 1992, at which time he was seventeen years old. He was charged by direct information filed on March 19, 1992. (R. 4-5,6) He had a number of assorted previous convictions, including two felonies, one of which was sexual battery. (R. 14) He was represented by counsel and by a guardian ad litem who was also an attorney. (R. 9, 10-11, 34, 69).

His father considered him too dangerous to be on the streets. He advised the judge that he could not control him, that he refused to do what anyone told him, and that he often stayed with his aunt, who would cover for him, hide him, and got him to sell cocaine for her. (R. 71-75). Respondent personally confirmed that he would not <u>let people</u> tell him what to do and said that he sold cocaine for his "own self," not because his aunt told him to. (R. 14).

Respondent filed a motion to suppress the cocaine found in his possession on June 1, 1992, which was heard and denied on June 4, 1992. (R. 7-8, 31-62). After the evidence was presented and the judge's ruling announced, there was a break in the proceedings and he conferred with defense counsel and his

- 1 -

guardian ad litem. The judge was then advised that he wanted to enter a no contest plea, reserving the right to appeal the suppression issue, and that he would be requesting a sentence of adult probation. A plea form and waiver of juvenile sentencing had apparently been executed during the break by Respondent, defense counsel, and the attorney acting as his guardian. (R. 9, 10-11, 62) No one was sure what the correct quidelines range was because there were alias convictions the preliminary scoresheet did not reflect and other charges that might have been resolved Therefore, sentencing was scheduled for June in the meantime. 10, 1992 in order for a correct scoresheet to be prepared. Respondent reserved the right to withdraw his plea then if he thought the new scoresheet made that advisable, and the plea colloquy was deferred until then. (R. 62-65) The waiver of juvenile sentencing, which is quoted in full in the court's opinion, explains the specific rights being waived and confirms under oath that the juvenile has been advised of them and understands them. The waiver indicates that he swore to this in the judge's presence before she signed it although that was not reported. (R. 9)

At the sentencing hearing, defense counsel reminded the judge that the plea had been postponed a week to obtain a correct scoresheet and advised her that the new scoresheet was somewhat higher, recommending community control and permitting up to three and one-half years in prison. He explained that the new scoresheet had been discussed with Respondent and that he was

- 2 -

gong to proceed with the plea and sentencing on that basis. He also reminded her that Respondent had already executed a written plea and waived juvenile sanctions the previous week in the presence of counsel and his appointed guardian. (R. 69)

In the plea colloquy which followed, the judge ascertained that Respondent could read with no difficulty, that he had read the plea form and he understood the rights he was giving up, that he knew what the possible potential sanctions were, and that he understood that she was free to impose whatever sentences she thought best. (R. Defense counsel and Respondent both 70) advised the judge that he was requesting a prison term, preferably shorter than the three and one-half years which the guidelines permitted, rather than community control. (R. 71) The theory, essentially, was that he was too averse to discipline to be expected to comply with the terms and had no suitable place to serve house arrest, which his father confirmed as previously noted.

The judge, however, concluded that he would benefit more by learning discipline and respect for the rules then he would by spending time in prison and placed him on two years' community control followed by three years' probation anyway, with a condition requiring him to spend the first year in jail and work on obtaining his G.E.D., which he indicated he could obtain. (R. 16-17, 18-20, 75-76) After more thought, she ordered him to report to the probation and restitution center upon his release from the jail because his family could not handle him and had

- 3 -

given up trying, and she wanted to prevent him from spending his life in and out of prison, which she explained. (R. 20, 76-79) She made provision for him to be released from the jail when he obtained his G.E.D. The requirement for residing at the probation and restitution center was to end whenever his behavior made it appropriate to discharge him, and each would be limited to a year at the most. (R. 20, 76, 78)¹

The notice of appeal was filed timely on June 18, 1992. (R. 21 - 22) Defense counsel filed a no merit brief under Anders v. California, 386 U.S. 738, 87 S.Ct. 1396, 18 L.Ed.2d 493 (1967), discussing the suppression issue reserved for appeal and a possible sentencing argument. The State agreed with defense counsel's analysis, and Respondent did not file a brief pro se. The Second District, however, ordered briefing on two issues noted in its independent review: (1) whether ordering Appellant to reside at the probation and restitution center after being released from the jail constituted incarceration for more than a year under Solis v. State, 622 So. 2d 587 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993); and (2) whether the written findings required by Troutman v. State, 630 So. 2d 528 (Fla. 1993), were required to support the adult sentencing. The court ultimately reversed on both grounds,

¹ The undersigned is advised that Respondent was in fact released from the jail into the custody of the probation and restitution center on January 5, 1993 and wound up in prison a few months later. The specifics were not provided.

dealing with the first summarily discussing the second at length, and certifying the following question as follows:

> DOES TROUTMAN V. STATE, 630 SO. 2D 528 (FLA. 1993), OVERRULE THE HOLDINGS OF STATE V. RHODEN, 448 SO. 2D 1013 (FLA. 1984), AND SIRMONS V. STATE, 620 SO. 2D 1279 (FLA. 1993), THAT A JUVENILE MAY WAIVE THE

> STATUTORILY MANDATED REQUIREMENTS OF SECTION 39.059(7), FLORIDA STATUTES (1991), SO LONG AS SUCH A WAIVER IS VOLUNTARILY, KNOWINGLY, AND INTELLIGENTLY WAIVED?

In addition, certain discretionary cost awards were reversed without prejudice to reimposing them after notice and a hearing. That issue had not been argued and was dealt with in a footnote.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

ISSUE I - The certified question should be answered in the negative, and the adult sentencing approved. The Court has made it clear that juvenile sentencing can be waived voluntarily as long as the juvenile is informed of the specific rights he is giving up, and Respondent was. The opinions stating that have not been overruled. On the contrary, they served as the basis for the decision said to overruled them. There was no reason to discuss the possibility of waiver again in that case because it was not an issue there.

ISSUE II - The requirement for residing in the probation and restitution center after Respondent spent time in jail should also be approved because it was a matter of necessity, not punishment. He had no suitable place to live while on community control otherwise. Furthermore, a year was the maximum time he could spend in each facility. How much of that he actually spent was up to him.

- 6 -

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

DOES TROUTMAN V. STATE, 630 SO. 2D 528 1993), OVERRULE THE HOLDINGS OF (FLA. STATE V. RHODEN, 448 SO. 2D 1013 (FLA. 1984), AND SIRMONS V. STATE, 620 SO. 2D 1279 (FLA. 1993), THAT A JUVENILE MAY WAIVE THE STATUTORILY MANDATED REQUIREMENTS ÖF SECTION 39.059(7), FLORIDA STATUTES (1991), SO LONG AS SUCH A WAIVER IS VOLUNTARILY, KNOWINGLY, AND INTELLIGENTLY WAIVED? (CERTIFIED QUESTION)

The State of Florida, Petitioner herein, would respectfully submit that <u>Troutman v. State</u>, 630 So. 2d 528 (Fla. 1993), clearly does not overrule <u>Rhoden v. State</u>, 448 So. 2d 1013 (Fla. 1984), and <u>Sirmons v. State</u>, 620 So. 2d 1249 (Fla. 1993); that those opinions govern the issue presented; and that <u>Troutman</u> is totally consistent but basically irrelevant. The Second District panel incorrectly reached the opposite conclusion by focusing on portions of the discussions in <u>Troutman</u> without considering the context in which the statements were made.

<u>Rhoden</u> considered the question of whether the failure to object to being sentenced as an adult without the statutory findings waived the requirement, and the Court determined that it did not, noting that juveniles have a right to be sentenced differently, which the findings are necessary to protect, and that they are always required absent a deliberate, knowing waiver. 448 So. 2d at 1017. <u>Sirmons</u> considered the question of whether a plea agreement which provides for adult sentencing obviates the need

- 7 -

for findings. The Court determined that it did not because, in order for the right of a juvenile tried as an adult to be treated as a juvenile for sentencing to be knowingly and intelligently waived, the juvenile has to know what protections he is giving up. The record did not show that the defendant in that case had not been informed of those rights. 620 So. 2d at 1252.

In Troutman, there was no contention that the right to be treated as a juvenile had been waived or that findings were They were unquestionably unnecessary for any other reason. necessary and the judge had in fact made both oral and written findings. The question was whether they were sufficient, because the judge had neither addressed all of the statutory factors specifically nor reduced his findings to writing contemporaneously. The Court determined that this was not sufficient because the juvenile's right to be treated as such made strict compliance with Section 39.059(7), Florida Statutes, mandatory, at least where the juvenile had been charged by direct information and findings therefore had not been required in order to try him as an adult in the first place. 630 So. 2d at 531 n.5.

This is not inconsistent with <u>Rhoden</u> and <u>Sirmons</u> in any respect. All three cases stress the importance of protecting the rights of juveniles tried as adults to be treated as juveniles for purposes of sentencing, and the requirement for strict compliance with Section 39.059(7) in making the necessary findings which <u>Troutman</u> states is expressly based on <u>Rhoden</u> and <u>Sirmons</u>.

- 8 -

<u>Troutman</u> did not mention the possibility of a knowing waiver as <u>Rhoden</u> and <u>Sirmons</u> did for the obvious reason that waiver was not an issue in <u>Troutman</u> as it was in <u>Rhoden</u> and <u>Sirmons</u>. When findings are necessary and what they must include are two different questions, and <u>Troutman</u> dealt solely with the latter because the answer to the former was clear and undisputed.

Second District panel apparently overlooked this The distinction as well as the fact that Rhoden and Sirmons, far from being questioned in Troutman were cited as the primary authority for determining that the findings must strictly comply with Section 39.059(7) in order to protect the juvenile's right to be treated as such for sentencing. Interpreting a decision regarding the sufficiency of findings where they are clearly required so as require findings in situations not before the Court is to questionable, inferring a requirement for findings where the Court has twice stated they would not be required is even less logical, and interpreting an opinion to overrule the very cases it relies on certainly makes no sense.

Moreover, the idea that the right to be treated as а juvenile at sentencing could not be waived at all was considered by this Court and rejected when Sirmons was decided. Justice Barkett suggested precisely that in her concurrence, and the rest of the Court obviously disagreed as the majority opinion expressly confirms the statement in Rhoden that a knowing waiver would obviate the need for findings, and no one joined in the concurrence which questioned that. 620 So. 2d at 1252. The

- 9 -

opinion in the instant case does not mention the fact that the conclusion reached was considered and rejected in <u>Sirmons</u> either. It appears that <u>Troutman</u> was found to require findings where the right to be treated as a juvenile is knowingly waived simply because that possibility was not mentioned and the fact that there was no reason to discuss that in resolving the case at issue was overlooked.

The waiver in this case was clearly knowing and intelligent and made findings unnecessary under the test established in <u>Sirmons</u> because the record shows that Respondent, unlike the defendant in <u>Sirmons</u> was informed of the specific rights he would have in a juvenile sentencing and waived them deliberately. They were set out in the written waiver he executed on June 4, 1992, and he swore under oath that he had been advised about them and understood them. Although the June 4 transcript does not show the event, it apparently occurred in the presence of the judge since she signed it to indicate that it had. (R. 9) Respondent could read with no difficulty, and anticipated being able to obtain his G.E.D. (R. 70, 76) Moreover, he was represented by a guardian ad litem who was an attorney as well as defense counsel, and both were present and signed the waiver as well. (R. 9, 10-11, 34, 67).

There was no reason to discuss the waiver when his plea was accepted on June 10, 1992, because the waiver was not part of the plea. There was no agreement regarding the sentence at all. (R. 70) Respondent was seventeen years old when this offense was committed, and it was not his first. (R. 5,6,14) On the other

- 10 -

hand, his guidelines range was not high. (R. 14) He was hoping to receive either adult probation or a prison sentence of something less than the three and one-half years the guidelines permitted and presumably waived juvenile sentencing for that reason. (R. 62, 71).

Possibly he did so to avoid further participation in juvenile programs. Possibly he expected the judge to sentence him as an adult in any event and thought he might better his chances of getting his choice of adult sentences if he affirmatively requested such sentencing from the outset. Whatever his reasons for waiving the right to have juvenile sanctions considered, he was clearly informed of the specific rights he was giving up, he had two attorneys advising him and protecting his interests independently, he swore he understood his juvenile rights, and he would have known what they were from his previous cases anyway. It might be preferable for a discussion to be included in the transcript, but the fact that the waiver was knowing and intelligent is clear without that, and findings were therefore unnecessary.

- 11 -

ISSUE II

WHETHER ORDERING RESPONDENT TO RESIDE IN THE PROBATION AND RESTITUTION CENTER AFTER SERVING JAIL TIME CONSTITUTED A TERM OF INCARCERATION EXCEEDING A YEAR SO AS TO BE IMPERMISSIBLE UNDER THE PARTICULAR CIRCUMSTANCES.

The State acknowledges that requiring residence in a probation and community control center is generally considered an incarcerative sentence, and that coupling it with a requirement for jail time can result in an impermissible term of incarceration when the total exceeds one year as the Second District held in <u>Solis v State</u>, 622 So. 2d 484 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993). The State questions the application of that rule on these facts, however, for two different reasons.

In the first place, Respondent was not being required to spend more than a year in the jail and the center combined. The amount of time he spent in each program was within his control. He would be released from the jail as soon as he obtained his G.E.D., which he indicated would not be a problem, and he could be discharged from the center at any time it was determined to be appropriate. (R. 75-76, 20) The effect of the judge's order was actually to ensure that he did not spend more than a year in either. Letting Respondent himself determine how much time he would spend in jail and the probation center was obviously an excellent way to encourage him to grow up and act responsibly, and, in the State's view, the fact that he could potentially spend a year in each place did not require him to spend more than a year altogether since the terms he actually spent were within his control.

Another problem with the ruling in the State's view is that Respondent was not ordered to reside in the probation center as additional That provision was added as punishment. an afterthought because it was clear from his father's comments and defense counsel's argument that there was nowhere suitable for him to live unless and until his attitude and behavior changed. His family could not handle him and had given up trying. His father considered him too dangerous to be on the streets at all. (R. 71-When he stayed with his aunt, she encouraged him to sell 75) drugs and otherwise act irresponsibly. (R. 73-74) Defense counsel stressed the impracticality of house arrest as a reason for imposing a brief prison sentence instead as Respondent was requesting. (R. 71)

That is hardly an uncommon preference for defendants in the lower guidelines ranges since they are likely to serve a few months at most, while community control will last longer and require more of them besides. Defendants clearly do not have a right to reject probation and community control in favor of prison sentences. Judges can impose whichever type of sentence they consider most appropriate. <u>See e.g.</u>, <u>Morgani v. State</u>, 573 So. 2d 820, 822 (Fla. 1991); <u>Petrillo v. State</u>, 554 So. 2d 1227 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990); <u>Moods v. State</u>, 542 So. 2d 443 (Fla. 5th DCA 1989).

As the judge explained to Respondent, a brief stay in prison would do him no good. If he did not develop some discipline and

- 13 -

responsibility, he would be spending much of his adult life there. Putting him under close supervision, combined with incentives, on the other hand, would hopefully encourage appropriate behavior as he gained in maturity and keep that pattern from developing. (R. 77-78) She obviously thought that a period in jail at the outset would be beneficial, presumably to get his attention and keep him out of trouble for a while as well as to provide an incentive for getting his G.E.D. quickly in order to be released. He obviously had to have somewhere to live after that, however, and there was no practical option other than the probation center, which is why she sent him there. If he showed he could act responsibly and was discharged, he could presumably go back and live with his family again, but in the meantime, his father obviously did not want him there.

The State would submit that having a supervisee live in the probation center because he has no suitable place to live otherwise is not an incarcerative sentence. Rather, it is a matter of necessity and therefore not subject to a one-year limit where the necessity continues beyond that. Otherwise, defendants who want to complete their sentences the easy way by spending a brief time in prison could often force judges to impose such a sentence where supervision is deemed more appropriate, simply by putting on evidence that they will have no suitable place to live after the first year.

- 14 -

CONCUSION

For the reasons heretofore stated, the certified question should be answered in the negative, the trial court's actions approved, and the district court's decision reversed.

Respectfully submitted,

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT J. KRAUSS

Sr. Assistant Attorney General Chief of Criminal Law Tampa Florida Bar No. 238538 Westwood Center, Suite 700 2002 N. Lois Avenue Tampa, Florida 33607-2366 (813) 873-4739

ANNE Y/ SWING Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0299294 Westwood Center, Suite 700 2002 N. Lois Avenue Tampa, Florida 33607-2366 (813) 873-4739 COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER