By .

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

STATE OF FLORIDA, : Petitioner, : vs. : FLETCHER BERRY, : Respondent. :

Case No. 83,786

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA SECOND DISTRICT

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

JAMES MARION MOORMAN PUBLIC DEFENDER TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

MEGAN OLSON ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 656150

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33830 (813) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

PAGE NO.

1

2

3

3

7

10

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Respondent accepts the Statement of the Case and Facts as presented by the Petitioner.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The protections afforded a juvenile defendant under section 39.059, Florida Statutes (1991), should not be subject to waiver. A trial judge must consider the criteria enumerated in the statute anytime he is contemplating the imposition of adult sanctions.

A trial judge, regardless of his motives, may not sentence a defendant to a year in the county jail followed by a year in a probation and restitution center as a condition of community control.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

DOES <u>TROUTMAN V. STATE</u>, 630 SO. 2D 528 (FLA. 1993), OVERRULE THE HOLD-INGS OF <u>STATE V. RHODEN</u>, 448 SO. 2D 1013 (FLA. 1984), AND <u>SIRMONS V.</u> <u>STATE</u>, 620 SO. 2D 1249 (FLA. 1993), THAT A JUVENILE MAY WAIVE THE STATU-TORILY MANDATED REQUIREMENTS OF SECTION 39.059(7), FLORIDA STATUTES (1991), SO LONG AS SUCH A WAIVER IS VOLUNTARILY, KNOWINGLY, AND INTELLI-GENTLY MADE?

This Court in <u>Troutman v. State</u>, 630 So. 2d 528 (Fla. 1993) effectively overruled <u>State v. Rhoden</u>, 448 So. 2d 1013 (Fla. 1984), and <u>Sirmons v. State</u>, 620 So. 2d 1249 (Fla. 1993). Over the years, the general principle espoused in each of these of these cases has remained the same: Juveniles are to be treated differently than adults when involved with the criminal justice system. They are entitled to an additional layer of protection and should be treated in the least restrictive fashion that ensures the safety of the community. <u>Troutman</u>; <u>Rhoden</u>.

As this Court has repeatedly reminded us in the above opinions the Florida Legislature embraced the above philosophy with the creation of the juvenile justice system and specific to this case, the enactment of section 39.059, Florida Statutes (1991). The recognition by the legislature that juveniles, as a rule, should not be sentenced as adults is reflected in the mandatory requirement under section 39.059, Florida Statutes (1991). A trial judge must consider each and every criteria under the statute when considering the suitability of imposing adult sanctions.

In the preceding cases of Rhoden and Sirmons, this Court was dealing with the failure of the trial court to make any written findings of fact with regard to the suitability of the imposition of adult sentencing sanctions. In both cases this Court stated in dicta that a juvenile could waive his right to have the trial court make the appropriate findings where the waiver was knowingly, intelligently and voluntarily made. In Sirmons, Chief Justice Barkett, in a specially concurring opinion, expressed her doubts as to whether a juvenile could ever waive the mandatory findings required under section 39.0111(7)(c), Florida Statutes (1991). Subsequently, Chief Justice Barkett penned the opinion in Troutman. In that case, this Court was once again confronted with the issues surrounding the imposition of adult sanctions upon a juvenile. Once again, this Court reiterated the additional protections afforded a juvenile under the juvenile justice system. This Court, in reversing the sentencing order of the trial court, held that a trial judge "must consider each of the criteria of section 39.059, Florida Statutes (1991) before determine the suitability of adult sanctions". Id. at 531. There was no mention of the possibility of the waiver by the juvenile of these findings in the opinion.

Respondent believes that <u>Troutman</u>, did effectively overrule the preceding cases dealing with the issue of the waiver under section 39.059, Florida Statutes (1991). Such a holding would be entirely consistent with the principle established by the enactment of the juvenile justice system. The purpose of the system and the statute at issue is to protect the juvenile from being improperly

sentenced as an adult. The mandatory requirement that a trial judge make the findings necessary to determine if adult sentencing is appropriate in each case is central to the protection of a juvenile offender. A Juvenile should not be able to waive this Too often, a juvenile may be imprudently advised by protection. counsel or family members to waive his right to have the findings made under the statute or he may waive his right in order to take advantage of an apparently generous plea offer made by the state. As a consequence of these actions, a juvenile who does not belong in the adult prison system may nonetheless be sentenced as an adult. The requirement that a trial judge always considers the criteria under section 39.059, Florida Statutes (1991) would hopefully prevent errors such as the above from occurring. If the juvenile were sentenced as an adult after the trial judge had complied or at least attempted to comply with the statute, the juvenile would be able to appeal the findings of the trial judge. The additional time that the trial judge may use in making the findings of fact as opposed to accepting a waiver is insignificant compared to the protection afforded the juvenile through the process of complying with the statute.

This court in <u>Troutman</u> held that a trial judge must consider each of the criteria under section 39.059, Florida Statutes (1991), in determining the suitability of the imposition of adult sanctions. This decision rejects the concept of the waiver of these requirements and implicitly overrules the prior decisions of <u>Sirmons</u>, and <u>Rhoden</u>, regarding this issue.

ISSUE II

WHETHER ORDERING RESPONDENT TO RE-SIDE IN THE PROBATION AND RESTITU-TION CENTER AFTER JAIL TIME CONSTI-TUTED A TERM OF INCARCERATION EX-CEEDING A YEAR SO AS TO BE IMPERMIS-SIBLE UNDER THE PARTICULAR CIRCUM-STANCES. (AS STATED BY THE PETITION-ER)

The Second District Court of Appeal was correct in concluding that the sentencing scheme employed by the trial court was improper. The trial judge placed the Respondent on two years of community control followed by three years of probation. As a condition of community control, she ordered him to spend the first year in the county jail. She also ordered that he report to the probation and restitution center when he was released from the county jail. The period he was to remain in the probation and restitution center was unspecified, but it was not to exceed one year.

Petitioner argues that this sentencing scheme was warranted in this case because the Respondent was a behavior problem and thus the trial judge was providing him with a service by allowing him to grow up. It is also presented that the sentence was valid because although the Respondent could spend two years incarcerated, he would not necessarily spend that much time incarcerated. Respondent disagrees with the premise of both of these arguments, and believes that the trial court was correct in reversing the sentence.

Section 948.03(5), Florida Statutes (1991), provides that, when a trial court imposes incarceration as a condition of probation or community control, the period of confinement may not The place of incarceration is restricted to a exceed 345 days. county facility, a probation and restitution center, and several other facilities. Thus, as acknowledged by Petitioner, placement in a probation and restitution center qualifies as incarceration. A defendant may not be sentenced to a term of one year incarceration in the county jail followed by a term of incarceration in a probation and restitution as a condition of community control. Soils v. State, 622 So. 2d 584 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993). The fact that the period of incarceration could have been less depending on the Respondent's behavior does not diminish the fact that the sentence was illegal as the Respondent could ultimately spend over one year and up to two full years incarcerated. Id. at 585.

Petitioner states that a trial judge may utilize his discretion when fashioning the sentence he imposes and that a defendant may not object to the form of the sentence. Respondent agrees that a trial judge does have some discretion in determining the sentence to be imposed. However, one limitation upon this discretion is that the sentence ultimately imposed must be legal. A trial judge may not impose a sentence that exceeds the statutory maximum for the offense. <u>Servis v. State</u>, 588 So. 2d 290 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991); <u>Arnette v, State</u>, 598 So. 2d 235 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992). He cannot impose terms of incarceration and probation to be served simultaneously. <u>Nobles v. State</u>, 605 So. 2d 996 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992).

Additionally, the date of the commencement of the sentence may not be vague or uncertain. <u>Richardson v. State</u>, 432 So. 2d 750 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983). There are many constraints upon a trial judge when a sentence is being structured. In this case, the trial judge incorrectly ordered the Respondent to serve up to two years incarcerated as a condition of community control. If in fact the trial Judge was attempting to assist the Respondent by sentencing him in this fashion, it does not alter the fact that the sentence employed was illegal. The Second District Court of Appeal was correct in reversing the sentence imposed and this ruling should be affirmed.

CONCLUSION

In light of the foregoing arguments and authorities, the question certified by the Second District Court of Appeal should be answered in the affirmative. The reversal of the trial Court's sentencing procedure should also be affirmed.